

**BYLAWS
OF
RIO SOUTH TEXAS ECONOMIC COUNCIL**

These Bylaws (referred to as the Bylaws) govern the affairs of the Rio South Texas Economic Council, a nonprofit corporation (referred to as the Council) organized under the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act (referred to as the Act).

Mission

Our mission is to successfully promote the economic expansion and diversification of communities in the Rio South Texas region.

Objectives

Business Climate-To promote a business and governmental climate that is conducive to successful economic development.

Education-To improve education and training for the purpose of strengthening community economic development efforts.

Marketing - To engage in marketing activities for the purpose of generating opportunities that will result in economic expansion & diversification.

Networking-To provide opportunities for sharing knowledge and experience, and the development of professional relationships.

ARTICLE 1

OFFICES

Principal Office

1.01 The Principal office of the Council in the State of Texas shall be located at 901 Business Park Dr., Ste 200, Mission, TX 78572. The Council may have such other offices, either in Texas or elsewhere, as the Board of Directors may determine. The Board of Directors may change the location of any offices of the Council.

Registered Office and Registered Agent

1.02 The Council shall comply with the requirements of the Act and maintain a registered office and registered agent in Texas. The registered office may, but need not, be identical with the Council's principal office in Texas. The Board of Directors may change the registered office and the registered agent as provided.

ARTICLE 2

MEMBERS

Classes of Members

2.01 There shall be three classes of membership: Foundation membership is available to counties, cities and/or local economic development corporations; Institutional membership is reserved for chambers of commerce, education institutions and

councils of government; and Organizational membership is available to the private sector, utility companies, trade groups and other public or non-profit parties which have a vested interest in the economic vitality of the region. The Council Board of Directors shall establish the responsibilities and financial commitment for each category.

Admission of Members and Renewal of Membership

2.02 Natural persons, associations, corporations, businesses, partnerships, cooperatives, government entities and estates having an interest in, and who are in agreement with, the general purposes and objectives of the Corporation may be admitted to membership in the Council. Each member which is a corporation, partnership, foundation, or any entity except a person shall have the right to designate one person to represent the member. The Board of Directors may adopt and amend application procedures and qualifications for membership in the Council. The Board of Directors will accept applications and make recommendations to the membership. An affirmative vote of the majority of the members, present and voting shall be required for admission of any applicant who meets the membership qualifications then in effect. A member may renew membership by paying all required fees and dues. Applications for membership shall be in writing on Council application forms, and signed by the applicant.

Membership Fees and Dues

2.03 The Board of Directors may set and change the amount of the annual dues payable to the Council by members of each category. Dues shall be payable on or before December 1 of each year. Members in default will receive written notice by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and will then have thirty (30) days from receipt of letter to submit membership fees and dues to the Council. Failure to meet this guideline will result in termination of membership. The dues for a new member's first year shall be prorated from the first day of the month in which the member is admitted to membership through the end of the fiscal year.

Term of Membership Agreement/Withdrawals

2.04 Memberships are renewed annually by payment of annual membership dues. Any member may withdraw, through written notice, from the Council at any time without refund of dues paid to date.

Reimbursement

2.05 Members of the Council should not expect to be reimbursed for Council-related expenses.

Voting Rights

2.06 Each member, in good standing, shall be entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote of the members. A member in good standing is one who has paid all required fees and dues as of the date of the meeting.

Termination of Members

2.07 The Board of Directors, by a two-thirds vote of all directors, may remove a member from the Council, with or without cause.

Resignation

2.08 A member's resignation shall not relieve the member of any obligations to pay any dues, assessments, or other charges that had accrued and were unpaid prior to the effective date of the resignation.

Honorary Members

2.09 The Board of Directors may extend Honorary Membership to persons or organizations that have made a

significant contribution to economic development in the Rio South Texas region. Honorary Members shall not be entitled to vote on matters before the membership.

ARTICLE 3

MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Annual Meeting of Members

3.01 Beginning in 2009, the Board of Directors shall hold an annual meeting of the members during the second week of October each year or at another time that the Board of Directors designates. The time and place shall be fixed by the Board of Directors and the notice thereof sent by mail, fax, or electronic mail to each member at least twenty (20) days before said meeting. At the annual meeting, the Board shall elect directors, make an annual progress report, review the annual financial report and transact any other business that may come before the meeting. If, in any year, the election of directors is not held on the day designated for the annual meeting, or at any adjournment of the annual meeting, the Board of Directors shall call a special meeting of the members as soon thereafter as possible to conduct the election of directors.

Regular Meetings of Members

3.02 The Board of Directors may provide for regular meetings of the members, at least quarterly, stating the time and place of such meetings, and may be called by the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Notice and purpose of the meeting shall be given to each member no less than five (5) days prior to each meeting.

Special Meetings of Members

3.03 Special meetings of the membership may be called by the Chairman, the Board of Directors, or not less than one-third (1/3) of the voting members. Notice, purpose and the place of the meeting shall be given to each member no less than ten (10) days prior to each meeting.

Place of Meetings of Members

3.04 The Board of Directors may designate any place, either within or without the State of Texas, as the place of meeting for any annual meeting or for any special meeting called by the Board of Directors. If the Board of Directors does not designate the place of the meeting, the meeting shall be held at the registered office of the Council in Texas.

Notice of Meetings of Members

3.05 Written or printed notice of any meeting of the members shall be delivered to each member entitled to vote at the meeting. The notice shall state the place, day, and time of the meeting, who called the meeting, and the general purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Notice shall be given by or at the direction of the Chairman or Secretary of the Council, or the officers or persons calling the meeting.

Proxies

3.06 Any member may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by such member. Each proxy shall be revocable unless expressly provided therein to be irrevocable or unless otherwise made irrevocable by law.

Quorum of Members

3.07 One-third (1/3) of the voting membership in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum. The members present at a duly called or held meeting at which a quorum is present may continue to deliberate even if enough members leave

the meeting so that less than a quorum remains. However, no action may be approved without the vote of at least the number of members required to constitute a quorum. If a quorum is not present during a meeting, a majority of the members present may adjourn and reconvene the meeting one time without further notice.

Procedures

3.08 The procedures of all Council, Board of Directors and committee meetings shall be guided by *Roberts Rules of Order Newly Revised* (10th Edition).

ARTICLE 4

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Management of the Council

4.01 The affairs of the Council shall be managed by the Board of Directors.

4.02 The Board of Directors may contract, employ, hire or otherwise acquire administrative, professional or other needed personnel services to further the purpose of the Council.

4.03 The Board of Directors has the authority to purchase, receive, lease or otherwise acquire, own, hold, improve, use or otherwise deal in and deal with real and personal property or any interest therein: to sell, convey, mortgage, pledge, lease, exchange, transfer, and otherwise dispose of all or any part of its property and assets as the purposes of the corporation shall acquire.

Number and Qualifications of Directors

4.04 The number of directors shall be a number determined by the Board of Directors that is not less than six (6) including Foundation, Institutional and Organizational members. Directors shall be members in good standing of the Council.

Vacancies

4.05 Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors shall be filled by the member of the organization with the advice and approval of the Board of Directors; however, vacancies in the Board due to an increase in the number of directors is to be filled by the members at an annual meeting of the members or at a special meeting of members called for that purpose. Any other vacancy may be filled by approval of a majority of the remaining directors, even if it is less than a quorum of the Board of Directors, or if it is a sole remaining director. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the un-expired term of the predecessor in office.

Regular Meetings of Directors

4.06 The regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at a time and place to be determined and adopted by resolution of the Board at its first meeting. All future meetings of the Board after that date shall be the same time and place unless otherwise determined.

Special Meetings of Directors

4.07 Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairman or any three Directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings may fix the time and place for holding such meetings.

Notice of Meetings of Directors

4.08 Written or printed notice of any meeting of the Directors shall be delivered to each Director at least three days prior to the meeting stating the place, day and time of the meeting, who called the meeting, and the general purpose of the meeting. Notice shall be given by or at the direction of the Chairman or Secretary of the Council, or the officers or persons calling the meeting.

Quorum of Directors

4.09 One-third (1/3) of the Board of Directors in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board. The directors present at a duly called or held meeting at which a quorum is present may continue to deliberate even if enough directors leave the meeting so that less than a quorum remains. However, no action may be approved without the vote of at least the number of directors required to constitute a quorum. If a quorum fails to be maintained during a meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn and reconvene the meeting one time without further notice.

Actions of Board of Directors

4.10 The Board of Directors shall try to act by consensus. However, the vote of a majority of directors, in person or by proxy and in good standing, voting at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be sufficient to constitute the act of the Board of Directors unless the act of a greater number is required by law or by the bylaws. A director in good standing is one who has paid all required fees and dues and is not suspended as of the date of the meeting. A director who is present at a meeting and abstains from a vote is considered to be present and voting for the purpose of determining the decision of the Board of Directors.

Proxies

4.11 Any director may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by such director. Each proxy shall be revocable unless expressly provided therein to be irrevocable or unless otherwise made irrevocable by law.

Agenda

4.12 An agenda for each meeting will be made available to all directors at least three (3) days prior to each meeting and at each meeting. There will be no restrictions placed on any agenda item. Each agenda item will be worded to make it clear that action may be taken.

Removal of Directors

4.13 Any director may be removed either with or without cause by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of all directors.

ARTICLE 5

OFFICERS

Officer Positions

5.01 The officers of the Board shall be a Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer. The Board of Directors may create additional officer positions, define the authority and duties of each such position, and elect or appoint persons to fill the positions.

Election and Term of Office

5.02 The officers of the Board shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at the regular annual meeting of the Board. At any meeting at which the election of officers occurs, the nominating committee shall report nominees for the board and for each officer position. In addition a director in good standing may nominate another director for any officer position with the second of any other voting director in good standing. If the election of officers is not held at this meeting, the election shall be held as soon thereafter as conveniently possible. Each officer shall hold office until a successor is duly selected and qualified. An officer may be elected to succeed him or herself in the same office.

Vacancies

5.03 A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board of Directors for the un-expired portion of the officer's term.

Chairman

5.04 The Chairman shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Council. The Chairman shall supervise the business affairs of the Council, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors. The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the members, of the Board of Directors, and of the Executive Committee. The Chairman may execute any deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments that the Board of Directors has authorized to be executed. However, the Chairman may not execute instruments on behalf of the Council if this power is expressly delegated to another officer or agent of the Council by the Board of Directors, the bylaws, or statute. The Chairman shall perform other duties prescribed by the Board of Directors and all duties incident to the office of Chairman.

Vice-Chairman

5.05 When the Chairman is absent, is unable to act, or refuses to act, the Vice-Chairman shall perform the duties of the Chairman. When the Vice-Chairman acts in place of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman shall have all the powers of and be subject to all restrictions upon the Chairman. The Vice-Chairman shall preside over the Budget Committee and shall perform other duties as assigned by the Chairman of Board of Directors.

Secretary

5.06 The secretary shall give all notices as provided in the bylaws or as required by law, take minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and keep the minutes as part of the corporate records, maintain custody of the corporate records and of the seal of the Council, affix the seal of the Council to all documents as authorized, keep a register of the contact information of each member, director, officer, and employee of the Council and perform duties as assigned by the Chairman.

Treasurer

5.07 The treasurer shall have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Council, receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the Council from any source, deposit all moneys in the name of the Council in banks, trust companies, or other depositories as provided in the bylaws or as directed by the Board of Directors or Chairman, write checks and disburse funds to discharge obligations of the Council, maintain the financial books and records of the Council, prepare financial reports as least annually, perform other duties as assigned by the Chairman and if required by the Board of Directors, give a bond for the faithful discharge of his or her duties in a sum and with a surety as determined by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 6

COMMITTEES

Establishment of Committees

6.01 The Chairman, with the advice and consent of the Board of Directors, is authorized to appoint any standing or special committees, other than those specified in these bylaws. In addition to Directors, a committee may include persons who are not directors. The establishment of a committee or the delegation of authority to it shall not relieve the Board of Directors, or any individual director, of any responsibility imposed by the bylaws or otherwise imposed by law. No committee shall commit the Council on any matter without first receiving the approval of the Board of Directors or the approval of the membership.

6.02 The Chairman shall appoint all committee chairmen. Committee meetings may be called at any time by the committee chairman, but committee chairmen must notify the Chairman of the Board.

Composition of Executive Committee

6.03 The Executive Committee shall be composed of the officers of the Council and representatives of each class of membership. Foundation members representing counties over 50,000 in population or cities over 10,000 in population shall have an automatic seat on the Executive Committee. The Chairman, with the consent of the Board of Directors, may appoint other Foundation members and at least one representative of the Institutional and Organizational members to the Executive Committee.

Authority of Executive Committee

6.04 The Executive Committee shall act on behalf of the Board of Directors when the Board of Directors is not in session. The Board of Directors shall set the limitation of authority of the Executive Committee and any actions taken by the Executive Committee shall be reported at the next Board meeting.

Nominating Committee

6.05 The Chairman shall appoint a nominations committee in August of each year or as soon thereafter as is possible for the purpose of nominating potential directors and officers of the Council. The committee shall report its nominees at the annual meeting of the Council or the meeting at which directors and officers will be elected. The committee will be composed of the Chairman and two other directors, at least one of which shall not have served on the Executive Committee.

Budget Committee

6.06 The Chairman shall appoint a budget committee in May of each year or as soon thereafter as is possible for the purpose of development of the next fiscal year's budget. The Vice-Chairman shall chair this committee.

ARTICLE 7

TRANSACTIONS OF THE COUNCIL

Contracts

7.01 The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or agent of the Council to enter into a contract or execute and

deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Council. This authority may be limited to a specific contract or instrument or it may extend to any number and type of possible contracts and instruments.

Deposits

7.02 All funds of the Council shall be deposited to the credit of the Council in banks, trust companies, or other depositories that the Board of Directors selects.

Gifts

7.03 The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the Council any contribution, gift, bequest, or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose of the Council. The Board of Directors may make gifts and give charitable contributions that are not prohibited by the bylaws, the articles of incorporation, state law, and any requirements for maintaining the Council's federal and state tax status.

Potential Conflicts of Interest

7.04 The Council shall not make any loan to a director or officer of the Council. A director, officer, or committee member of the Council may not lend money to and otherwise transact business with the Council except as otherwise provided by the bylaws, articles of incorporation, and all applicable laws. Such a person transacting business with the Council has the same rights and obligations relating to those matters as other persons transacting business with the Council. The Council shall not borrow money from or otherwise transact business with a director, officer, or committee member of the Council without full disclosure of all relevant facts and without the approval of the Board of Directors members, not including the vote of any person having a personal interest in the transaction.

ARTICLE 8

BOOKS AND RECORDS

Required Books and Records

8.01 The Council shall keep correct and complete books and records of account. The Council's books and records shall include:

- (1) A file-endorsed copy of all documents filed with the Texas Secretary of State relating to the Council, including, but not limited to, the articles of incorporation and any articles of amendment, restated articles, articles of merger, articles of consolidation, and statement of change of registered office or registered agent.
- (2) A copy of the bylaws, and any amended versions or amendments to the bylaws.
- (3) Minutes of the proceedings of the members, Board of Directors, and committees having any of the authority of the Board of Directors.
- (4) A list of names and addresses of the members, directors, officers, and any committee members of the Council.
- (5) Financial statements showing the balance sheet and income and expenses of the Council for the three most recent fiscal years.
- (6) All rulings, letters, and other documents relating to the Council's federal, state, and local tax status.

- (7) The Council's federal, state, and local information or income tax returns for each of the Council's three most recent tax years.

Inspection and Copying

8.02 Any officer, director or member of the Council may inspect and receive copies of all books and records of the corporation required to be kept by the bylaws. Such a person may inspect or receive copies if the person submits a request in writing. Any person entitled to inspect and copy the Council's books and records may do so through his or her attorney or other duly authorized representative. A person entitled to inspect the council's books and records may do so at a reasonable time no later than ten (10) working days after the council's receipt of a proper written request. The Board of Directors may establish reasonable fees for copying the Councils' books and records by members. The fees may cover the cost of materials and labor, but may not exceed fifty cents (\$.50) per page. The Council shall provide requested copies of books or records no later than ten (10) working days after the corporation's receipt of a proper written request.

ARTICLE 9

FISCAL

Fiscal year

9.01 The fiscal year of the Council shall begin on the first day of October and end on the last day in September in each year.

Budget

9.02 Prior to June 1 of each year, the Budget Committee shall meet and prepare an annual budget. The budget shall be subject to the approval of the Board of Directors and shall become the operating budget for the Council in the next fiscal year.

Audit

9.03 The Board of Directors shall order a certified audit to be conducted annually.

Annual Report

9.04 The Board of Directors shall report to the membership regarding the functions and conditions of the Council at the annual meeting.

ARTICLE 10

AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS

10.01 The bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed, and new bylaws may be adopted only by a majority vote of the members in person or by proxy at any regular or special meeting of the members. The notice of any meeting at which the bylaws are altered, amended, or repealed, or at which new bylaws are adopted shall be sent to the last recorded address of each member at least twenty (20) days prior to the date of the meeting, and shall include the board recommendations for the text of the proposed bylaw provisions as well as the text of any existing provisions proposed to be altered, amended, or repealed.

ARTICLE 11

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Legal Authorities Governing Construction of Bylaws

11.01 The bylaws shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas. All references in the bylaws to statutes, regulations, or other sources of legal authority shall refer to the authorities cited, or their successors, as they may be amended from time to time.

Legal Construction

11.02 If any bylaw provision is held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, the invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision and the bylaws shall be construed as if the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had not been included in the bylaws.

Headings

11.03 The headings used in the bylaws are used for convenience and shall not be considered in construing the terms of the bylaws.

Gender

11.04 Wherever the context requires, all words in the bylaws in the male gender shall be deemed to include the female or neuter gender, all singular words shall include the plural, and all plural words shall include the singular.

Seal

11.05 The Board of Directors may provide for a corporate seal. Such seal would consist of two concentric circles containing the words Rio South Texas Economic Development Council, Texas, in one circle and the word Incorporated together with the date of incorporation of the Council in the other circle.

Power of Attorney

11.06 A person may execute any instrument related to the Council by means of a power of attorney if an original executed power of attorney is provided to the secretary of the Council to be kept with the council records.

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

I certify that I am the duly elected and acting secretary of Rio South Texas Economic Council and that the foregoing Bylaws constitute the Bylaws of the Council. These Bylaws were duly adopted at a meeting on October 13, 2008.

Date

William Martin, Secretary

ARTICLE 11

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Legal Authorities Governing Construction of Bylaws

11.01 The bylaws shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas. All references in the bylaws to statutes, regulations, or other sources of legal authority shall refer to the authorities cited, or their successors, as they may be amended from time to time.

Legal Construction

11.02 If any bylaw provision is held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, the invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision and the bylaws shall be construed as if the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had not been included in the bylaws.

Headings

11.03 The headings used in the bylaws are used for convenience and shall not be considered in construing the terms of the bylaws.

Gender

11.04 Wherever the context requires, all words in the bylaws in the male gender shall be deemed to include the female or neuter gender, all singular words shall include the plural, and all plural words shall include the singular.

Seal

11.05 The Board of Directors may provide for a corporate seal. Such seal would consist of two concentric circles containing the words Rio South Texas Economic Development Council, Texas, in one circle and the word Incorporated together with the date of incorporation of the Council in the other circle.

Power of Attorney

11.06 A person may execute any instrument related to the Council by means of a power of attorney if an original executed power of attorney is provided to the secretary of the Council to be kept with the council records.

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

I certify that I am the duly elected and acting secretary of Rio South Texas Economic Council and that the foregoing Bylaws constitute the Bylaws of the Council. These Bylaws were duly adopted at a meeting on October 13, 2008.

10-22-08
Date

William Martin
William Martin, Secretary

**Membership Dues for the
Rio South Texas Economic Development Council**

Foundation Members \$1,000 to \$30,000 per year

This membership category is for all counties, cities or economic development corporations within the Rio South Texas region and based on the most current US Census updates. Foundation Members investing \$10,000 or more will be considered by the Board of Directors for a seat on the Executive Committee. Foundation Members contributing less than \$10,000 shall recommend to the Chairman, and the Chairman shall appoint, one (1) member per population level to the Executive Committee.

Population Levels:

Counties with 500,000 or more and cities with 50,000 or more	\$30,000
Counties with 200,000-499,999 and cities with 35,000-49,999	\$15,000
Counties with 50,000-199,999 and cities with 10,000-34,999	\$10,000
Counties with 20,000-49,999 and cities with 5,000 to 9,999	\$5,000
Cities with 2,000-4,999	\$2,000
Cities under 2,000	\$1,000

Institutional Members \$1,000 per year

This membership is for Chambers of Commerce, education institutions, and councils of government within the region which participates in the Rio South Texas EDC organization. Institutional Members shall recommend to the Chairman, and the Chairman shall appoint, one (1) member to the Executive Committee.

Organizational Members \$5,000 or \$15,000

This membership category is open to private sector, utility companies, trade associations, governmental agencies and other public or non-profit partners who have a vested interest in the economic vitality of the region. Gold members will be considered by the Board of Directors for a seat on the Executive Committee

Gold Member	\$15,000
Bronze Member	\$5,000